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Chairman’s introduction

Our mission is to create homes and communities that 
people want to live in. We work in some of the most 
disadvantaged neighbourhoods in London and Essex and 
we’re in a position to make a difference and we do make 
a difference. We are in a healthy financial position, have a 
clear strategy, strong governance and a committed team.

A good part of our success can be put down to our work 
in regenerating communities and developing new homes. 
We completed 99 new homes last year to take our housing 
stock to 10,431 units and have plans in place to develop 
a further 655 new homes over the next year. We are 
continuing with the major regeneration schemes on the 
Beechwood Village in Basildon, at Bow Cross in Tower 
Hamlets and at Forest Gate where we manage homes  
on behalf on the London Borough of Newham. 

In the year we were selected as preferred developer to 
work on the regeneration of Blackwall Reach in the London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets. The proposals include the 
provision of 1,621 homes, of which around 690 will be 
modern energy efficient homes for affordable rent and 
shared ownership, including more than 530 new rented 
homes for local people.  This project demonstrates our 
determination to move forward at a time when many 
organisations are struggling to make progress.

We remain committed to involving residents at all levels  
in the running of our business and improving our services.  
We have a majority of residents on our Regional 
Committees and resident representatives on our Board. 
The improvements we have seen in resident satisfaction 
levels are evidence that we are going in the right direction.

In 2009 we set up a charity, the Swan Foundation, to 
work in partnership with local organisations to improve the 
quality of life for people and communities in East London 
and Essex. Swan Foundation is funding projects related to 
four priority areas (1) Education, training and employment 
(2) Community cohesion (3) Environment and (4) Health, 
well-being and sports.

We have reported a surplus for the year of £1.1m and 
we are now seeing the significant financial benefits of the 
£450m investment we have made in new homes over 
the past five years. In the future we will seek to further 
strengthen our financial position by driving through 
efficiencies, continuing with our ambitious but realistic 
development plans and by broadening the range of 
services we offer.

I would like to thank all the staff for their continued efforts in 
delivering the quality of services Swan has a reputation for 
and I look forward to being able to report further progress 
next year.

Richard Frost
Chair – Swan Housing Association

Group’s consolidated highlights – 5 year summary

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Income and expenditure (£)

Turnover 76.0m 66.3m 53.8m 36.7m 29.6m

Turnover on general  
needs housing

34.0m 31.7m 30.6m 23.2m 21.2m

Surplus / (deficit)  
before tax

1.1m (0.4m) (0.4m) (3.6m) (1.5m)

Net interest payable 12.6m 13.7m 14.7m 13.3m 10.5m

Balance sheet (£)

Tangible Fixed Assets - 
Housing

512.6m 496.7m 451.2m 463.2m 362.4m

Investment in  
new housing

82.4m 39.2m 70.3m 139.8m 86.7m

Total expenditure on repairs 
and improvements

6.8m 6.7m 6.3m 7.9m 5.7m

Grants received 29.8m 54.6m 38.7m 40.5m 40.1m

Bank borrowing 442m 400m 387.6m 343.5m 235.6m

Accommodation (units)

Total social housing  
stock owned

7,784 8,020 7,943 6,846 6,331

Total social housing stock 
owned and managed

10,431 10,747 10,677 8,111 7,607

KPI data

Interest cover 155% 128% 118% 134% 110%

Net debt per unit (£) 50,480 44,260 42,565 43,109 32,885

General needs tenant arrears 
as % of debit

3.52% 4.9% 5.6% 4.8% 6.8%

Void turnaround (days) 16.3 18.1 20.2 18.5 20.4

% of all repairs completed 
on time

98.5% 99.8% 99.8% 96.5% 89.4%

Chairman’s introductionGroup’s 5 year highlights
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We will continue to strive for value for money and 
improvements in the service we provide to our residents.

Financial results 
We are pleased to report excellent financial results for the 
Group. The surplus before tax in 2010/11 was £1.061m, 
which is an increase of £1.493m from the previous year. 
The financial statements on pages 30 to 63 demonstrate 
the continued strong financial performance.

Some key highlights are:

Turnover has increased by 14.7% from the previous year. 
This is due to increased turnover from the Forest Gate 
PFI project and a growth in social lettings turnover from 
an increase in properties coming into management and 
reductions in re-let times.

The total surplus on the disposal of properties was £0.7m 
(2010 – deficit £0.02m). 

Operating performance has improved despite the difficult 
economic conditions. This is evidenced by the continued 
improvement in rent arrears and re-let times which are in 
the top quartile when benchmarked against our peers.

Losses on void properties reduced by 40.3% from the 
previous year.

During the year £82m was invested in building new 
properties, increasing the value of our housing properties 
by 7.4%, whilst Social Housing Grant received was £30m.

99 general needs units were handed over in the year  
with a further 85 units converted to general needs from 
other tenures. Units owned or in management now  
totals 10,431. 

Accounting policies 
The Group’s principal accounting policies are set out 
on pages 37 to 39 of the financial statements. The 
policies that are most critical to the financial results relate 
to accounting for housing depreciation and include; 
capitalisation of costs, deduction of capital grant from  
the cost of assets, housing property depreciation,  
and treatment of shared ownership properties.

Swan Housing Group (“Swan”) was formed in 1998 with 
the transfer of some 2,600 properties in Basildon. Swan 
now owns and manages over 10,000 properties in East 
London and Essex.

Swan’s mission is to: “Create homes and communities  
that people want to live in”. This will be achieved by:

  delivering an annual growth of 5%  
in affordable homes

  exceeding our Business Plan targets

  being judged as an improving landlord  
by our residents

  reducing inequality and increasing social inclusion

  involving our residents and building  
stronger communities

These strategic objectives are set out in our Corporate Plan 
for 2009–12 which was approved by the Board in 2009.

Swan’s activities are focused in the following areas:

  providing affordable homes for people who cannot 
afford to rent or buy in the open market

  developing properties for outright sale and for the 
intermediate market including shared ownership

  providing key worker accommodation

  providing supported housing services

  investing in the community

The year under review 
In July 2010 we successfully disposed of our Norfolk and 
Norwich Key Worker Accommodation for proceeds in 
excess of £8m. We also launched the sales office at the 
Beechwood Village regeneration project. We completed  
the first phase of the regeneration of the Exmouth Estate  
in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets to bring the 
homes up to Decent Homes Standard and completed  
a number of external improvements.

In October 2010 we streamlined the group structure 
to achieve operational efficiencies by transferring the 
activities of Swan (Essex) Housing Association Ltd and 
Swan (London) Housing Association Ltd to Swan Housing 
Association Ltd. In October 2010 we also appointed 
our first Resident Board Member and set up Regional 
Committees for London and Essex with Resident 
Committee Members. 

In October 2010 we also received our viability review from 
the Tenant Services Authority which confirmed that Swan 
was viable, properly managed and properly governed.

In February 2011 we were confirmed as preferred  
partner for the Blackwall Reach Project, one of the largest 
regeneration programmes in East London. As well as 
creating much needed homes for the community, Blackwall 
Reach will also see the development of new retail and 
community facilities, improved schooling, new high quality 
public open spaces and improved access to neighbouring 
areas such as East India Dock and the Dockland riverside.

In March 2011 we completed the remaining actions from 
our successful Audit Commission Short Notice Inspection 
in January 2010.

The future 
Early in the financial year 2011/12, we will be signing the 
final contracts for Blackwall Reach and will start on site  
in the second half of the year. 

We anticipate putting forward an offer for the supply of  
new housing to the Homes & Communities Agency as  
part of the 2011–15 Affordable Homes Programme.

We will complete the Streamlight regeneration project  
in Tower Hamlets. 

Report of the Board and operating financial reviewReport of the Board and operating financial review

Bow Cross Estate, 
Tower Hamlets
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Housing services
The Housing Management service has had a successful 
year with improvements across the board on all key 
performance indicators. We have successfully retained  
our Quality Housing Standards accreditation.

Striving for Excellence is Swan’s service improvement 
programme. Last year saw a number of new projects 
completed including a revised tenancy agreement,  
a sign up DVD for residents and the launch of an  
online choice-based lettings scheme.

The year also saw a number of changes in the housing 
sector including the introduction of the new regulatory 
framework for social housing by the Tenant Services 
Authority. This new regulatory framework has a clear focus 
on co-regulation and resident involvement in scrutinising 
our performance. In response to this we worked with 
residents to develop a new resident scrutiny framework: 
Residents in the Driving Seat, which summarises our 
approach. This includes performance scrutiny by our 
regional Resident Consultative Committees, overseeing the 
Asset Management service through our Resident Quality 
Panel and mystery shopping across all service areas 
by a team of residents. The new regulatory framework 
launched the 6 National Standards against which services 
to residents are monitored. In October 2010 we issued all 
residents with our new style Residents’ Annual Report  
with detailed feedback on our performance.

We responded well to the new challenges the year 
brought us with a continued commitment that improving 
services for our customers was our number one priority. 
Our customer satisfaction surveys told us that being able 
to solve problems effectively was still the top priority for 
residents. During the year the Right First Time project was 
completed and the recommendations from this project are 
now being implemented.

Report to the Board –  
review of the year

Report of the Board and operating financial reviewReport of the Board and operating financial review
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Beechwood Village, 
Basildon
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Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative
We have successfully completed the second year of the PFI 
with the regeneration programme on target for completion 
in early 2012 and all key targets achieved for the 20 year 
housing management and maintenance contract. Forest 
Gate residents continue to play an active role in Swan’s 
resident involvement structure with two residents holding 
places on the London Resident Consultative Committee.

Asset management 
Asset management has delivered consistently high levels 
of performance throughout the year through the strategic 
partnership with Axis, with marked improvements for a 
number of key indicators. In the main our performance 
is aligned to that of upper quartile standards when 
benchmarked against our peers. We have, for the first time, 
achieved 100% compliance with our statutory obligations 
for gas safety management.

We have taken on board a series of recommendations 
proposed by the Audit Commission through their Short 
Notice Inspection to further enhance accessibility and the 
involvement of residents in the repairs service. Meeting 
resident expectations remains our key challenge and we 
are committed to working to continuously improve this.  
As a consequence, we have seen an improvement in 
resident satisfaction with the repairs service over the  
last year.

We have reaped the benefits of our long-term alliance 
with Axis, as they have invested considerably during the 
year in new technology to improve both communication 
systems and repairs management software. The repairs 
management software now used is far more intuitive and 
has greatly enhanced planning and tracking facilities for 
repairs orders. This, coupled with handheld technology, 
means we have been able to improve communication  

with residents and offer an automated text messaging 
service to keep residents informed about their  
repair appointments.

Introduction of the new repairs management software has 
also enabled Swan to develop a new resident web portal 
that allows residents to be in control of managing their 
repairs online. This service offers residents the ability to 
order, track, manage, reschedule and cancel repairs online 
in real time. The service is fully supported with a pictorial 
diagnostic tool to simplify matters and enables residents  
to book a specific appointment via two hour slots. 

During the year we developed and implemented a 
revised Asset Management Strategy. There is now even 
greater emphasis on meeting residents’ needs and those 
requirements of the Tenant Services Authority’s Home 
Standard and compliance of implementing local offers.

The revised Asset Management Strategy introduced 
a range of initiatives such as tackling fuel poverty and 
enhancing affordable warmth. A complete overhaul of our 
repairs standards has led to the delivery of a clear and 
concise Repairs Standard document that sets out repairing 
responsibilities for both Swan and its residents. We have 
implemented a Decent Homes PLUS standard that sets 
Swan’s standards well ahead of the government’s minimum 
standard. We have achieved 100% compliance with the 
Decent Homes Standard and improved energy efficiency of 
our stock with an average SAP rating of 72. Our programme 
for installing carbon monoxide detectors in our homes where 
a gas supply is installed will enhance resident safety. The 
development of a renewable energy project which aims to 
provide residents with reduced energy bills is a key priority 
for the coming year. These initiatives have been implemented 
with the full support and input from our residents.

We are also mindful of our part in working and supporting 
local communities. During the year we engaged in a number 
of social initiatives which culminated in a major community 
project in March. With a combined force of around 40 
volunteers, staff gave up their time and spent a whole 
weekend redecorating a community hall that local  
residents will now benefit from.

Involving our residents 
Resident involvement in both our service improvement 
programme and in reviewing our performance is critical to 
our success. The year saw the launch of the new resident 
majority Regional Committees for both London and Essex, 
who formally report to the Board.

In addition to the Tenant Services Authority’s National 
Standards we have worked with residents to develop a 
range of local offers. Local offers are service promises that 
are in addition to the National Standards that we are required 
to achieve by the Tenant Services Authority. Local offer 
progress is reviewed regularly through the resident scrutiny 
framework and overseen by the Board Service  
Improvement Committee.

We successfully delivered a residents’ capacity building 
programme which saw 49 residents attend nine workshops 
in both Essex and London. Three residents were successful 
in completing the CIH Level 2 Certificate in Housing.

Our Community Grant programme continues to be popular 
with a number of local community development projects 
delivered throughout the year. These included a fun day  
on the Exmouth Estate, a Halloween party organised by  
the Youth Forum, a Christmas party at the Foyer and the  
formal opening of Priestman Point at the Bow Cross Estate 
in London by Jim Fitzpatrick MP.

We successfully completed a summer activities programme 
for local children in the community and have helped facilitate 
a number of football coaching sessions during the year. We 
have had a focus on both youth activities and employment 
where, in partnership with the Arbour Centre, we have 
delivered an employment project in Bow Cross which  
has resulted in one of our residents gaining employment  
as a support worker with Tower Hamlets Council.

Target  
2011

Result  
2011

Performance  
2011

Target  
2010

Result  
2010

Performance 
2010

Rent arrears 4.5% 3.52% 5.5% 4.69%

Re-let times 16 days 16.3 days 17 days 17.2 days

% of repairs 
appointments  
made and kept

90% 92.2% 90% 62.2%

Gas safety performance 100% 100% 100% 99.8%

Repairs completed  
at first visit

90% 93.6% Not 
measured

Not 
measured

Customer satisfaction 78% 77.5% 78% 75.2%

% of complaints 
responded to within  
10 working days

95% 99.5% 95% 98.2%

Report of the Board and operating financial reviewReport of the Board and operating financial review

Performance information 2011 compared to 2010

Milly Popkin outside her home,  
the 700th completed in Forest Gate
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Case study

Masilin Mudhluyi wanted help getting a job closer 
to home after her maternity leave. The Arbour 
Trust provided some training in partnership with 
Swan, which included coaching on filling out 
job applications online, writing CVs, interview 
techniques and even a mock interview. Masilin 
credits the training with helping her to obtain her 
new position with Tower Hamlets Council as a 
Support Worker. She lives on our Bow Cross 
Estate in Tower Hamlets. Masilin felt she had lost 
her confidence and said; “With the training I felt 
empowered and much more confident. I went for 
two interviews and got a job on the third time”. 
She has agreed to share her story through the 
Arbour Trust with other women looking for work.

Supported Housing 
The Supported Housing service continues to go from 
strength to strength and this year achieved top quartile 
resident satisfaction at 80.5%. We will continue to survey 
our customers on an annual basis.

Recently we achieved ‘A’ excellent ratings for the five core 
objectives and have been able to maintain this standard 
throughout the year.

Supported Housing has a new web-based application from 
Capita Support. This will enable us and our service users 
to benefit from personalised, instant access to housing and 
support services. The software will also help us to improve 
service delivery and develop a productive and efficient 
mobile workforce using digital pens to capture handwritten 
notes. Some savings will also be made, for example:

 Reduced mileage costs and travelling time

  Reduced stationery costs and improved quality  
of service

  Standardised documentation and procedures 
across all support contracts

  Improved performance reporting and  
management information

Furthermore, the software will support our plans  
to grow the business.

Personalisation
This year saw the launch of our personalisation project 
which has changed the way we provide support services. 
We are putting service users in charge of the services  
they receive. 

Service charge review 
We have completed a review of our service charges.  
This was a cross-departmental project which improved 
the way we calculate, manage and account for service 
charges. Our systems are now robust enough to manage 
our expanding business. The aims achieved include:

 Maximising the billing of all relevant costs

  Reducing service charge disputes

  Increasing customer satisfaction

  Ensuring chargeable services represent  
value for money

Care services
We have now achieved registration with the Care Quality 
Commission. This ensures we can develop the care side 
of our business, building on the success of our Supported 
Housing department. Our customers will be able to  
access a one-stop-shop service for all their care and 
support needs.

Report of the Board and operating financial review
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Swan New Homes
Swan New Homes Limited is a private limited company that 
is a fully owned subsidiary of Swan Housing Association.  
It was established to undertake the planning, development, 
construction and sale of private residential housing 
alongside Swan Housing Association’s own affordable 
housing programme.

At the start of the 2010/11 we were developing on site 
at Beechwood Village in Basildon, Streamlight on the Isle 
of Dogs and Bow Cross in East London. During the year 
development also began at Spring Gardens in Romford and 
Parkway in Chelmsford. In total these five developments will 
deliver 376 private sale units over the next two years and 
sales revenue of around £80m.

Swan New Homes opened its first sales office at 
Beechwood Village in June 2010. Sales interest was high 
and 11 houses were sold during the year, generating sales 
revenue of just over £2m. The Streamlight sales suite 
opened at the beginning of March 2011. Again, interest  
was high and a number of reservations have been made. 

Our construction services arm continued the regeneration 
works at the Five Links estate in Basildon and work also 
began on site at Spring Gardens in Romford, where 98 
mixed tenure apartments will be delivered by the summer  
of 2012. The combined value of the works at Five Links  
and Spring Gardens is set to exceed £30m.

We give upmost importance to the Health and Safety of our 
employees, customers, sub-contractors and all other site 
visitors. All site staff and sub-contractors are required to 
pass the Construction Skills Certificate Scheme health and 
safety test. A Health and Safety inspection is carried out on 
all our construction sites on a monthly basis. There were  
no major or reportable accidents during the year.

We are fully committed to the government’s Code for 
Sustainable Homes programme, adopting an ethos of 
environmental, social and economic sustainability in all 
our activities. All our new build schemes must achieve 
a minimum Code for Sustainable Homes Level 3 rating. 
However, in our drive to be at the forefront of the 
sustainability agenda, we are developing schemes at  
higher levels with a carbon-neutral scheme at Cranes Court, 
Basildon, which will achieve a Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 6 rating.

Streamlight Tower, 
Isle of Dogs,  
East LondonArtist’s impression of the regeneration of Blackwall Reach, Tower Hamlets

Swan New Homes 
achieved £800k  
of profit before tax  
for the year.

Report of the Board and operating financial reviewReport of the Board and operating financial review
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Spring Gardens
42

Parkway
49

Streamlight
70

Bow Cross
97

Beechwood 
Village
118

Our people 
As we continue to grow we are aware that we need to 
develop and engage our people to enable them to be  
ready for the challenges that will inevitably come.

We have jointly created a set of six behaviours which 
help to describe how we expect each of us to deal with 
customers and colleagues. The behaviours will be woven 
into our existing recruitment, development and performance 
management systems, so that they contribute to our  
drive to increase our customer’s experience. 

We work very hard at Swan to engage and motivate our 
people. However we need to measure that and so, for 
the fourth year running, we asked the Leadership Factor 
to run our Employee Satisfaction Survey. The results were 
excellent with an overall satisfaction rating of 76.7%. 
Satisfaction is up by 1.5% from last year’s survey and up 
4.3% since we started measuring satisfaction back in 2007.

Employee numbers remained relatively static and by the 
end of the year we employed 316 people. Our turnover  
for the year was 11.7% against a target of 12%.

Our average absence for the year was 6 days per 
employee. This is slightly above our target for the year of 
5.43 days but still below the CBI UK average of 6.7 days. 
We will continue to manage this area of performance, 
especially as it can have a direct impact on service delivery.

Health and Safety
In the year we undertook a complete review of our 
approach to Health and Safety. Subsequent to this review 
we adopted a more proactive approach to Health and 
Safety and introduced the SwanSAFE Health and Safety 
Strategy. This has led to a better understanding of the 
legislative requirements, improvements in staff training, 
development of more robust processes and procedures 
and greater visibility of our Health and Safety related risks.

Our Health and Safety performance is reviewed on a 
monthly basis at a committee attended by representatives 
from across the business, at the Executive level in a Health 
and Safety Committee chaired by the Chief Executive and 
on a quarterly basis by the Board.

Risk management  
Swan has a well developed risk management culture.  
Our Risk Management Policy defines our risk appetite,  
the role of the Board, Audit and Risk Committee, Managers 
and Staff. Through risk management we seek to:

  embed risk assessment and risk management  
into the culture of the organisation

  carry out risk assessments on all departments  
and significant projects

  monitor the overall impact of risks to ensure  
that the overall level of risk remains within 
acceptable limits

  minimise losses, injury and damage and reduce 
the cost of risk

  ensure appropriate mitigating actions are taken  
to address identified risks

  review key risks at Board and  
Audit and Risk Committee

  review and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and control annually 

The principal risks to the successful achievement of Swan’s 
objectives are shown below:

  Significant falls in the housing market would have  
a detrimental effect on Swan’s business plan.

  Failure to comply with financial covenants in loan 
documentation as a result of inaccurate cash  
flow forecasting would have an adverse effect  
on Swan’s business plan.

  Government policy particularly with regard 
to the availability of capital grant may restrict 
development activities. 

  The failure of a strategic partner could lead to a 
deterioration in service levels to residents or a 
delay in the delivery of development projects. 

Effective management of these risks is given a high priority 
within Swan and appropriate controls and contingencies  
are in place.

Risk management is embedded in the organisation  
at operating company and Group levels, with different  
types of risk requiring different levels and types of 
management response.

The Board reviews the main risks annually. The Executive 
Team and the Audit and Risk Committee also consider the 
risks throughout the year.

Value for Money (VfM)
Our Commitment to VfM
Achieving Value for Money (VfM) is a key objective for us, 
and is one of the National Standards introduced by the  
Tenant Services Authority. We continue to embed  
the principle of VfM to ensure we provide an efficient and 
cost-effective service to our residents. We are committed  
to ensuring the quality of our service improves and  
to monitoring our performance against internal and  
external benchmarks.

How we deliver on VfM
Governance 
A sub-committee of the Board oversees service 
improvement and VfM activity for operational service areas 
and support service departments. In addition we have 
established both Staff VfM and Resident VfM Groups.  
We are members of several benchmarking clubs, including 
HouseMark. We make use of those clubs to benchmark  
a range of activities on a quarterly and annual basis and 
share the results with our residents and the Board.

Financial
Our financial strategy clearly identifies a requirement  
for budget and business plan targets that drive efficiency 
gains and improvements to services each year.  
Detailed operational plans for each department highlight  
the ways VfM will be achieved. We record the effects  
of VfM achievements and report these through our 
governance structure.

Resident focus
Delivering improved resident satisfaction and achieving 
operational excellence are key objectives in our three year 
strategy. Our progress against this objective is monitored 
quarterly by the Finance and Personnel Committee. 
A resident VfM panel was established in September 
2010. Since this time, the resident group has looked at 
VfM aspects of anti-social behaviour and repairs and 
maintenance. In 2011/12 the resident group will review 
additional services and will receive further VfM training.

Swan New Homes current developments on site

Report of the Board and operating financial reviewReport of the Board and operating financial review

Number of properties
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Our plans for improvement
During the year, we achieved significant VfM savings. For 
example, the regeneration team re-procured the consultants 
framework, saving both time and money. In rent recovery, 
investment has been made to enable housing officers to 
take payments over the intranet which has contributed to 
the fall in rent arrears and improved cash flow.

The new regulatory framework requires us to agree 
local offers with our residents. Our local offer under the 
VfM Standard is to train residents to be involved in our 
procurement processes. Working with our residents we will 
introduce a new procurement framework for suppliers and 
anticipate seeing benefits in terms of quality and price.

Capital structure and treasury management
Our Treasury Policy sets out the controls and parameters 
for treasury activities across the Group and is approved 
annually by the Board. In compiling these policies, good 
practice from the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in Public Services, as well as Treasury 
Management Policy Statements and Good Practice  
Notes issued by the Tenant Services Authority have  
been followed.

Our objective is to ensure that the Group has sufficient 
cash in place to fund operations and investments for  
a minimum of three years.

The Group borrowing requirements are based on a prudent 
approach to business planning which includes sensitivity 
testing to ensure that we can cope with major changes  
in circumstances without breaching investor covenants. 
This includes testing different scenarios of property sales 
prices, volumes of sales and differing levels of inflation  
and interest rates.

Report of the Board and operating financial reviewReport of the Board and operating financial review

Loan facilities
As at 31 March 2011 we had two committed loan facilities 
totalling £566m. This consists of a £520m syndicated loan 
facility with drawn funding of £403.5m (£381.5m March 
2010) and a £46m PFI facility from RBS with drawn funding 
of £39m (£18m March 2010).

As of 31 March we had £96.5m of committed undrawn 
facility available for borrowing. In line with our prudent 
policies on liquidity management, this undrawn facility 
meets all our contractually committed developments  
in the coming years.

Interest rate risk management
We continue to be risk aware in our approach to interest 
rate management. We maintain a policy of hedging 50%  
to 80% of debt in predominantly fixed rate embedded 
loans and a small proportion in index-linked borrowing.  
At year end, this policy resulted in a portfolio that was 56% 
fixed rate, 41% floating rate and 3% index-linked. We do 
not have any non-Sterling or exchange rate exposures.

Counterparty risk management
We maintain a formal counterparty policy in respect  
of those financial institutions from which we will borrow  
or invest. On investments, we regard the prime objective  
of treasury management activity to be the security  
of the principal sums invested. Accordingly, we ensure  
that counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude 
towards institutions with which the funds may  
be deposited.

Compliance with loan covenants
Our loan facilities contain both interest cover and net debt 
per unit covenants. These are monitored monthly, and 
reported annually to finance providers. For the year ended 
31 March 2011, the interest cover and net debt per unit 
were in compliance with the loan covenants.

Committed funding

Drawn debt 81%

Undrawn debt 19%

Debt repayment profile

Between one and five years 6%

Between ten and twenty years 37%

Over twenty years 52%

Within one year 0%

Between five and ten years 5%

Capital structure and treasury management

Debt repayment profile

Callable < 1 year 12%

Fixed embedded 44%

RPI swaps 3%

Floating 41%
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co-optees who are appointed annually. Board members 
have formal service agreements, are expected to devote 
the necessary time to prepare for and attend all Board 
meetings and the meetings of those committees of which 
they are members, together with appropriate training, 
appraisal and other review meetings. Members are paid  
as detailed in the Board Remuneration section below.

The Group maintains directors and officers liability 
insurance for its Board members and officers, which 
is renewed annually. The Board is given access to 
independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense when the Board so requires.

Board effectiveness
The Board receives regular updates on the performance 
of the Group’s businesses, the legal and regulatory 
environments in which they operate and developments  
in their sectors through briefings included in Board papers 
or other presentations.

The Board has established a process for the annual 
evaluation of the performance of individual members by  
the Chair and the Board as a whole. The Board from time 
to time gathers together for training and development 
activity and to consider wider issues such as succession 
planning. Individual members may undertake training  
or development activity as identified by them or in their 
annual evaluations.

The Board tours locations of the company, enabling it to 
meet residents and other service users, at least annually. 

Relations with stakeholders
The principal stakeholders of the Group are its residents, 
service users, employees and funders. Residents are 
represented on the Board through the co-option of 
up to four members from the Regional Committees, 
the responsibilities of which are detailed below in the 
section “How the Board operates”. The operations of the 
Association are regulated by the Tenant Services Authority.

Relations with employees are managed through the 
Executive Directors and a Staff Consultative Committee. 
Relations with funders are also primarily managed through 
the Executive Directors. 

How the Board operates
The Board has set out Standing Orders, a Scheme of 
Delegations, a Code of Conduct and Financial Regulations 
to codify various matters for the better operation of the 
Group’s business and within which it expressly reserves 
specified significant matters for its sole decision. The 
Board meets regularly and has established a number of 
committees to which the Board has delegated certain 
responsibilities under formal Terms of Reference.  
The Board also meets with Executive Directors  
regularly during the year.

The Board and most of its committees meet at least four 
times per year. The meetings held during the year and 
the attendance of individual members at each is detailed 
below. Each entry is displayed as a fraction which has the 
number of meetings actually attended as the numerator 
and the number of meetings held and which could have 
been attended as the denominator.

Board and committee members receive all papers for the 
appropriate meetings, even if they have made notification 
that they are unable to attend. Membership of committees 
is reviewed and determined annually. Committee 
appointments may involve non-Board members, but the 
attendance of those committee members who are neither 
Board members or co-opted to the Board is not detailed  
in the table overleaf for reasons of brevity.

Corporate governance
The Board adopted the National Housing Federation’s 
2010 Governance Code: Excellence in Governance at its 
meeting in September 2010 in replacement of the National 
Housing Federation’s 2004 Governance Code. The Board 
had already adopted the National Housing Federation’s 
Code of Conduct in March 2010. In accordance with the 
underlying compliance principle of such codes, this section 
of the report seeks to provide detail about:

 the Board and its role

 Board effectiveness

 relations with stakeholders

 how the Board operates

The Board is committed to adherence to these codes 
and to high standards of conduct. The Group does not 
currently publish a list of interests of its Board members,  
but will review this during the course of the year. In all  
other instances, the Board considers it complies with  
these codes. 

The Board and its role
Swan Housing Association Limited is a Housing 
Association constituted under the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Act 1965. The Rules of the Association are its 
principal document of constitution and regulate various 
matters including the Board, its powers and its role. 

The Board’s role is to provide strategic direction and 
to govern, control and scrutinise the Association’s 
operations. It also provides advice to subsidiary Boards 
and management. At the year end, the Board comprised 
eight shareholder members and three co-opted members. 
Changes in Board membership during the year are detailed 
on page 4 of these Financial Statements. 

Board members are all non-executive members: some are 
tenants of the Association. Up to four persons are co-
opted to the Board from the Regional Committees so that 
residents are represented at Board meetings. Membership 
of the Board is reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure 
that they have a range of skills, knowledge and experiences 
appropriate for its needs. Board membership is usually for 
a three year term with a maximum of nine years, except for 
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Refurbished tower block, 
Bow Cross Estate, 

Tower Hamlets
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Audit and Risk 
Committee

Finance and  
Personnel 

Committee

Service  
Improvement 

Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Equality and  
Diversity  

Committee

- - 3/6 1/1 3/4

3/4 3/4 - 0/1 2/4

3/4 3/4 - 1/1 -

- - - - -

- - - - 4/4

- - 2/3 1/1 3/4

- - - - -

- - - 1/1 -

3/4 3/4 - - -

4/4 4/4 6/6 - -

1/4 1/4 - - -

- - 1/1 - 1/2

3/4 3/4 - - -

2/2 2/2 - - -

Swan HA  
Main Board

Essex Regional 
Committee

London Regional 
Committee 

Richard Frost (Chair) 4/4 - -

George Kieffer (Vice Chair) 4/4 - -

Derek Morrison (Treasurer) 3/4 - -

Gideon Amos 3/4 - -

Sheila Belgrave 3/4 - -

Tyson Bunby (from Sept 2010) 3/3 - 4/4

Hui Fong Chen (to Sept 2010) 0/1 - -

Tim Gerrard 4/4 - -

Anthony Holland 4/4 - 4/4

Steve King 3/4 4/4 -

Angela Lyon 2/4 - -

Ian Ritchie (to Sept 2010) 1/1 - 2/2

Colin Wannell (from Sept 2010) 3/3 - 4/4

Roy Weekley (to Sept 2010) 1/1 - -

A brief overview of the constitution and responsibilities 
of the seven principal committees of the Board is given 
below. Other panels and working groups are formed as 
considered appropriate to deal with particular issues as 
they arise.

Finance and Personnel Committee
The Finance and Personnel Committee consists of 
seven members. It meets at least four times per year 
and monitors Group accounting policies and considers 
financial, funding and human resources issues. It reviews 
and endorses the budget, management accounts and 
treasury policies and considers the financial parameters  
for new business developments, as well as considering 
human resources policies and practices. It is chaired by  
the Treasurer of Swan Housing Association.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee consists of seven members 
and also meets at least four times per year. It receives 
reports from the external and internal auditors and reviews 
the processes for audit and risk management. It is chaired 
by a member of the Board who is not the Chair of the 
Board of Swan Housing Association.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the Chair, Vice 
Chair and Treasurer of Swan Housing Association and the 
Chairs of each of the two Regional Committees and up to 
two others. It meets at least annually and considers Board 
appointments, the working arrangements and remuneration 
of the Chief Executive and Executive Directors. 

Essex and London Regional Committees
These two committees each comprise up to 12 members, 
eight of whom are to be residents or service users and  
four independent. Each committee meets at least four 
times per year. Each is responsible for monitoring the 
operational delivery of housing and related services for 
residents or other service users in its respective region  
and to recommend appropriate changes. 

Service Improvement Committee
This committee comprises the Chair, a Board member, a 
member from each of the two Regional Committees and a 
member of each of two Resident Consultation Committees, 
together with a member of the Finance and Personnel 
Committee. It meets at, broadly, bi-monthly intervals and 
considers service improvement priorities, value for money 
initiatives and customer satisfaction and oversees  
a programme of service reviews. 

Equality and Diversity Committee
This committee consists of five members with responsibility 
for keeping abreast of developments in this area and 
formulating action plans to ensure Swan meets  
its obligations with regard to equality and diversity.

Declarations of interest
All Board and committee members are required to  
declare any interests annually and otherwise at meetings 
where potential issues may arise. Individuals with a relevant 
interest are required to leave the meeting, unless requested 
otherwise by the Board/committee membership, and in any 
event do not vote on the issue concerned.

Meeting attendance
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Board member £

Richard Frost (Chair) 15,000

George Kieffer (Vice Chair) 10,000

Derek Morrison (Treasurer) 10,000

Gideon Amos 5,000

Sheila Belgrave 5,000

Tyson Bunby 10,000

Tim Gerrard 5,000

Anthony Holland 5,000

Steve King 5,000

Angela Lyon 5,000

Colin Wannell 5,000

The total amount paid above represents 0.1% of Group annual turnover. 

Executive directors 
The Executive Directors are listed on Page 4 and hold no 
interest in the share capital of any member of the Group. 
They act as executives within the authority delegated by 
the Board. 

Particulars of the Group’s pension scheme (the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme), into which the Group pays 
contributions on behalf of the Executive Directors and 
other employees, are set out in Note 22 to the Financial 
Statements. The latest valuation at 31 March 2010 showed 
an increase in the deficit to £738 million, representing  
an overall funding level of 70%. 

Going concern 
Following a review of the Group budget for 2010/2011, 
based on normal business planning and control 
procedures, members of the Board have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue its operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. A revised long-term business plan has been 
approved by the Board. This reflects current projections  
in relation to development, rent restructuring and 
investment in existing stock.

Board’s statement on the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility, 
applicable to all organisations within the Group, for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of internal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and to provide reasonable assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing  
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing and  
has been in place throughout the period commencing  
1 April 2010 up to the date of approval of the report  
and financial statements.

Key elements of the control framework include  
the following:

  Board approved terms of reference and  
delegated authorities for audit, housing  
and finance committees

  Clearly defined management responsibilities  
for the identification, evaluation and control  
of significant risks

  Robust strategic and business planning processes, 
with detailed financial budgets and forecasts

  Formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff

  Established authorisation and appraisal procedures 
for significant new initiatives and commitments

  A sophisticated approach to treasury management 
which is subject to external review each year

  Regular reporting to the appropriate committee on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes

  Board approved whistle-blowing and anti-theft and 
corruption policies

  Board approved fraud policies, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting, together  
with recoverability of assets

  Regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities

Board remuneration
The Board has determined, following appropriate advice and benchmarking, that it is appropriate, and continues to be 
appropriate, that Board members should be paid for their time and dedication. The annual fees paid to Board members  
in position at 31 March 2011 are set out below. In addition, Board members are reimbursed for any expenses incurred  
in carrying out their duties and in attending Board or committee meetings. 

The 700th property bought up to Decent Homes Standard, Forest Gate 
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In order to fulfil its responsibility, the Board has a  
separately designated Group Audit and Risk Committee;  
it employs the services of an internal auditor and has 
adopted a strategic approach to risk management  
and quality improvement. Assurances are therefore  
gained from the following sources:

Audit and Risk Committee
The Board has a designated Audit and Risk Committee; 
the terms of reference for which reflect the Tenant 
Services Authority’s good practice guide, “Improving the 
effectiveness of Audit Committees”. The meetings are 
attended by the Chief Executive, senior finance staff  
and other directors as required.

This committee is responsible for reviewing the  
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems  
of internal controls and reporting its conclusions to  
the Board, receiving reports from both the internal  
and external auditors.

The Audit and Risk Committee has also reviewed the risk 
management process and performance against quality 
standards, the Tenant Services Authority Regulatory Code 
and performance-related reports.

Internal audit function
The Group procures an internal audit service. This work 
has been carried out in accordance with the Institute of 
Internal Auditors’ Standards and Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Audit and 
Risk Committee on the system of internal controls, with 
an opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of key 
internal control systems. The internal auditor attends  
this committee to present reports and to report on 
management progress in implementing  
agreed recommendations.

The internal audit is planned, based on the results  
of an Audit Needs Assessment. A rolling programme  
is undertaken to cover the whole of the Group’s  
system of control.

External audit
The work of the external auditors has been conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland) and their audit opinion is contained within  
the financial statements. 

The terms of engagement of the external auditors provides 
that weaknesses in the structure of accounting systems 
and internal controls; inappropriate accounting policies 
and practices including non-compliance with legislation, 
accounting standards and other regulations would be 
highlighted if identified as part of the normal audit work.

Any significant weaknesses in internal controls identified 
are reported to the Board and an action plan to address 
the weakness is agreed. No serious control weaknesses 
have been identified this year.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP  
as auditors of the company is to be proposed at  
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Risk management
The Group’s approach to risk management and the work 
undertaken in the year are detailed in the Report of the 
Board (page 18).

Reports from the Tenant Services Authority 
In accordance with guidance issued by the Tenant Services 
Authority, limited assurances are taken from reports 
issued by the regulator. During the year, reports have been 
received and action taken to address the issues raised, 
none of which are considered material in nature.

Quality management systems/performance 
indicators 
During the year the Group has continued to comply with 
the criterion for ISO 9001:2000; adherence to this quality 
framework ensures that procedures used within the Group 
are developed and applied consistently.

The Group has successfully complied with the Charter 
Mark standard, demonstrating its continued commitment 
to Customer Care with the assessor commenting: 

  Swan Housing Group goes to considerable lengths 
to ensure users and partners are informed how 
services are run and who is in charge. Methods 
include Swan’s comprehensive tenant information 
pack and a detailed web site.

  Swan works closely with other Registered 
Providers, local authorities, police and community 
services to provide co-ordinated services across a 
wide geographical area. Swan’s partnership with 
Learn Direct is particularly impressive.

  Arrangements are cost effective and meet the 
increasing demands of users. Users, partners and 
funders mentioned the professional and efficient 
way services are provided.

  Swan continues to work closely with the wider 
community to promote social cohesion and reduce 
crime. Swan also supports employment and 
training initiatives through initiatives such as  
the Five Links Project.

The Group was re-accredited the Investors in People 
standard in 2008: a business improvement tool designed 
to advance an organisation’s performance through its 
people and continuous improvement. The assessor 
concluded that: 

  Swan as a business continues to meet and 
surpass the Investors in People national standard

Statement of Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom generally accepted accounting practice.

The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts and registered 
social landlord legislation in the United Kingdom require 
the Board to prepare financial statements for each financial 
year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and Association at the end of the year, and of 
the surplus or deficit of the Group and Association for the 
year then ended.

In preparing those financial statements the Board  
is required to:

  select suitable accounting policies and apply  
them consistently

  make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

  follow applicable United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and the Statement of Recommended 
Practice: “Accounting by registered social 
landlords” (Update 2008), subject to any  
material departures disclosed and explained  
in the financial statements

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and Association 
and enable it to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 
1965 to 2002, paragraph 16 of Schedule 1 to the Housing 
Act 1996, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Requirements for registered social landlords 
General Determination 2006. It is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Association and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection  
of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Report of  
the Board is prepared in accordance with the Statement  
of Recommended Practice: Accounting by registered  
social landlords (Update 2008).

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information on the Group’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of the financial statements 
and other information included in annual reports may  
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board on 11 July 2011

John Synnuck
Chief Executive
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Independent auditor’s report to the members  
of affordable housing provider
We have audited the financial statements of the affordable 
housing provider for the year ended 31 March 2011 
which comprise the Group and Association income 
and expenditure accounts, the Group and Association 
statements of total recognised surpluses and deficits,  
the Group and Association note of historical cost surpluses 
and deficits, the Group and Association reconciliations of 
movement in funds, the Group and Association balance 
sheets, the Group cash flow statement and the related 
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom  
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the housing association’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with regulations made 
under Section 4 of the Friendly and Industrial and Provident 
Societies Act 1968. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the housing association’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the housing association 
and the housing association’s members as a body,  
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions  
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Board and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Board 
Responsibilities (set out on page 29), the Board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
(APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope 
A description of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the APB’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm

Consolidated income and expenditure account

Consolidated statement of total recognised surpluses and deficits

Consolidated note of historical cost surpluses and deficits

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s 
and association’s affairs as at 31 March 2011 and 
of the group’s and association’s surplus for the 
year then ended

  have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Acts 1965 to 2002, the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting 
Requirements for Registered Social Landlords 
General Determination 2006

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 
1965 to 2002 require us to report if, in our opinion:

  a satisfactory system of control over transactions 
has not been maintained; or

  the association has not kept proper accounting 
records; or

  the financial statements are not in agreement  
with the books of account; or

  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
Cambridge, England

Date: July 2011

Income and expenditure accountsAuditor’s report

Note 2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Turnover 2&3 76,032 66,259

Operating costs 2&3 (63,142) (53,016)

Operating surplus 2&3 12,890 13,243

Surplus/(deficit) on sale of properties 6 729 (22)

Interest receivable 7 7 82

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (12,565) (13,735)

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before taxation 9 1,061 (432)

Tax on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities 10 (53) -

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities after taxation 1,008 (432)

2011  
£’000

2010  
£ ’000

Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year 1,008 (432)

Unrealised (deficit)/surplus on revaluation of housing properties (15,372) 26,147

Total (deficit)/surplus recognised since last financial statements (14,364) 25,715

2011  
£’000

2010  
£ ’000

Reported surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before taxation 1,008 (432)

Realisation of property revaluation gains 221 230

Difference between historical depreciation charge and the actual charge for the 
year calculated on the revalued amount

1,439 672

Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation 2,668 470

The turnover and surplus/(deficit) for both the current and prior year relate to continuing activities.

The notes on pages 37 to 63 form part of the financial statements.

The notes on pages 37 to 63 form part of the financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report to 
the members of Swan Housing 
Association Limited
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Note 2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Tangible fixed assets

Housing properties 11a 512,639 496,653

Other tangible fixed assets 11b 4,873 4,614

Total tangible assets 517,512 501,267

Current assets

Properties held for sale 12 35,749 28,002

Debtors 13 43,452 22,325

Cash at bank and in hand 15,187 29,694

94,388 80,021

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (36,878) (35,295)

Net current liabilities 57,510 44,726

Total assets less current liabilities 575,022 545,993

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 15 441,870 400,009

Capital and reserves

Share capital non-equity - -

Income and expenditure account 17 13,548 10,833

Designated reserve 17 670 577

Revaluation reserve 17 118,934 134,574

Capital and reserves 575,022 545,993

Association income and expenditure account Consolidated balance sheet

Association statement of total recognised surpluses and deficits

Association note of historical cost surpluses and deficits

Balance sheetsIncome and expenditure accounts

Note 2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Turnover 2&3 71,415 59,127

Operating costs 2&3 (59,093) (47,165)

Operating surplus 2&3 12,322 11,962

Surplus/(deficit) on sale of properties 6 729 (22)

Interest receivable 7 1,293 2,340

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (12,279) (13,550)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 9 2,065 730

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 10 - -

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 2,065 730

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Surplus for the financial year 2,065 730

Unrealised (deficit)/surplus on revaluation of housing and office properties (15,372) 2,024

Total (deficit)/surplus recognised since last financial statements (13,307) 2,754

2011  
£ 000

2010  
£ 000

Reported surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 2,065 730

Difference between historical depreciation charge and the actual charge for the 
year calculated on the revalued amount

1,439 230

Realised profit on disposal 221 182

Historical cost surplus for the year before taxation 3,725 1,142

Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation 3,725 1,142

The turnover and deficit for the current and prior year relate to continuing activities.

The notes on pages 37 to 63 form part of the financial statements.

The notes on pages 37 to 63 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 11 July 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Richard Frost    George Kieffer     Derek Morrison
Chair     Vice Chair    Treasurer

Company Number: 28496R

The notes on pages 37 to 63 form part of the financial statements.
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Association balance sheet Consolidated cash flow statement 

Cash flow statementBalance sheets

Note 2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Tangible fixed assets

Housing properties 11a 504,452 305,439

Other tangible fixed assets 11b 4,873 4,363

Total tangible assets 509,325 309,802

Investments

Investment in subsidiaries 11c 1,885 62,628

Total fixed assets 511,210 372,430

Current assets

Properties held for sale 12 35,749 28,002

Debtors 13 42,831 32,407

Cash at bank and in hand 13,137 18,706

91,717 79,115

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 14 (27,358) (16,155)

Net current assets 64,359 62,960

Total assets less current liabilities 575,569 435,390

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 438,846 396,985

Capital and reserves

Share capital – non-equity - -

Income and expenditure account 17 15,563 5,961

Revaluation reserve 17 121,160 32,444

Capital and reserves 575,569 435,390

Note 2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities A (2,276) 20,659

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

Interest received 1,395 82

Interest paid (13,953) (16,558)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments  
and servicing of finance

(12,558) (16,476)

Taxation 

Corporation tax paid (21) -

Capital expenditure

Payments to acquire housing property assets (85,376) (66,537)

Capital grants received 29,821 54,690

Payments to acquire other fixed assets (639) (640)

Receipts from sale of housing properties 10,177 6,431

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure (46,017) (6,056)

Net cash outflow before management of liquid resources 
and financing

(60,872) (1,873)

Management of liquid resources

Short term investments - -

Financing

Housing loans received 44,918 12,450

Net cash inflow from financing 44,918 12,450

(Decrease)/increase in cash (15,954) 10,577

The notes on pages 37 to 63 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 11 July 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Richard Frost    George Kieffer     Derek Morrison
Chair     Vice Chair    Treasurer

Company Number: 28496R
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Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

A. Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities

B. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

C. Analysis of changes in net debt

Cash flow statement

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Operating surplus 12,890 13,243

Depreciation 5,857 3,401

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (21,127) (11,529)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 104 15,544

Net cash inflow from operating activities (2,276) 20,659

GROUP

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (14,507) 10,693

(Increase)/decrease in overdraft in the year (1,447) (116)

(15,954) 10,577

Cash inflow from increase in debt financing 44,918 (12,450)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 28,964 (1,873)

Movement in net debt in the year 28,964 (1,873)

Net debt at 1 April 2010 (370,431) (368,558)

Net debt at 31 March 2011 (341,467) (370,431)

GROUP At 1 April 
2010  
£’000

Cash  
flow 

£’000

At 31 March 
2011  

£’000

Cash 29,694 (14,507) 15,187

Short term deposits - - -

Overdraft (116) (1,447) (1,563)

Debt due within one year - - -

Debt due after more than one year (396,985) 44,918 (352,067)

Finance leases (3,024) - (3,024)

Total net debt (370,431) 28,964 (341,467)

Notes to the financial statements

Basis of preparation 
The Association is incorporated under the Industrial and 
Provident Societies Act 1965. The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the Statement 
of Recommended Practice for Registered Social 
Landlords updated in 2008 (the “SORP”) and applicable 
financial reporting standards, and in accordance with the 
Accounting Requirements for Registered Social Landlords 
General Determination 2006 (“the Determination”).  
A summary of the more important accounting policies, 
which have been applied consistently, is set out below. 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis on the assumption that the Group will 
continue to trade for the foreseeable future. 

Basis of accounting 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical  
cost basis of accounting as modified by the revaluation  
of housing properties and freehold offices.

Group structure and basis of consolidation
Swan Housing Group (Swan) came into existence on  
1 April 1998. The Group is required by the Industrial and 
Provident Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969 to 
prepare group accounts. The Group financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of the parent, Swan 
Housing Association Limited, and its subsidiaries. All the 
Group members’ results are presented as operations 
under common ownership and control in accordance 
with the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 2 
“Accounting for subsidiary undertakings”.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are valued on an Existing Use Value – Social 
Housing (EUV-SH) basis at least once every three years. 
The aggregate surplus or deficit on revaluation is the 
difference between the cost of the property, less capital 
grants received and depreciation, and the amount of the 
valuation. The excess of value over cost less grant and 
depreciation has been credited to a revaluation reserve. 
Depreciation is charged on the total valuation less 
estimated land value of housing properties, in accordance 
with their expected useful economic lives on a straight  
line basis of 1% for new build properties and 2% for  
other properties.

01. Principal accounting policies

Completed NHS key worker and market rented properties 
are stated at cost and depreciation is charged on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.

Housing properties under construction are stated at cost 
less capital development grants and are transferred to 
‘Completed Schemes’ once they are available for letting. 
No depreciation is provided on housing properties  
under construction.

Where properties are sold the portion of the revalued cost 
of sale that is in excess of the historic cost of sale for the 
property is released from the revaluation reserve and is 
transferred to the income and expenditure account. 

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is charged on 
a straight line basis over the expected economic useful 
lives of the assets at the following annual rates:

Software expenditure is only capitalised where the 
underlying system represents new functionality and  
can be demonstrated to provide operational efficiencies.  
All other software expenditure is written off in the year  
in which it is incurred.

Operating leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to  
the income and expenditure account on a straight line 
basis over the life of the lease.

Shared ownership properties
Properties purchased for sale on shared ownership leases 
are recognised in the income and expenditure account. 
Any surpluses on disposal are recognised in the income 
and expenditure account.

Freehold offices valued  
at over £1 million

2% on 
valuation

Freehold offices not valued 2% on cost

Office equipment and fittings 20% on cost 

Computer equipment 25% on cost 
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Notes to the financial statements

Turnover
Turnover represents rental income receivable, income 
from shared ownership first tranche sales, fees and 
revenue grants from local authorities and the HCA and 
other income. It does not include proceeds from the sale 
of housing properties, the net gain or loss from which 
is shown after the operating surplus in the income and 
expenditure account. For the Forest Gate PFI, Swan 
has adopted a policy of accounting for the housing 
management and Decent Homes works on a separable 
basis. The unitary charge received under the contract has 
been split according to the total costs of the separable 
elements of the contract. Income and costs incurred on 
housing management will be recognised as incurred. The 
performance of the Decent Homes works will be forecast, 
including an allowance for risks, and a proportion of the 
resulting surplus taken in the year based on the percentage 
of works completed. Full provision will be made for all 
known or expected losses immediately once such losses 
are foreseen. 

Government grants
Revenue grants are credited in proportion to the 
expenditure to which they relate and are treated as income 
to the Association. Capital grants are shown in the balance 
sheet as a deduction from the capital asset to which they 
relate. Grants received in advance are treated as creditors 
in the balance sheet to be matched against future capital 
expenditure as it is incurred. Housing Association Grant 
(HAG) is included under Social Housing Grant heading.

Capital development grants may be repayable under 
certain circumstances, primarily following the sale of a 
property. Provision for repayment is made in the Balance 
Sheet when properties which have previously received 
grant funding are sold.

Impairment
Impairment is defined as the diminution in value of an  
asset below that originally assessed when the asset  
was acquired or constructed. Where properties are to 
be demolished as part of regeneration schemes or other 
development projects, their net book value is charged to  
the income and expenditure account in the year in which 
the decision to demolish was agreed.

Planned impairments arising from strategic decisions 
relating to the Association’s charitable objectives which  
are expected to generate surpluses in the longer term  
are not recognised.

Interest
Interest income is recognised when receivable. Interest 
payable is accrued daily. Interest on the net borrowing  
of the Group as a whole is capitalised to the extent that  
the borrowing relates to development costs less capital 
grants received in relation to incomplete properties  
under construction or refurbishment.

Investments 
Investments represent amounts on-lent by Swan to its 
subsidiaries under the Group financing arrangements.

Development on-costs 
Costs associated with development projects are  
capitalised where they are directly attributable to bringing 
the properties into working condition for their intended  
use. Such costs generally include professional fees, directly 
attributable staff salary costs incurred in administering the 
development programme and loan interest attributable 
to the scheme. Costs incurred on schemes which are 
identified as abortive are written off in the year in which 
they are incurred.

Major repairs and improvements
Major repairs and improvements are capitalised to the 
extent that they extend the useful economic life of a 
property, increase the potential rental or sale value of  
a property or reduce future repair costs of the property.  
In other circumstances major repairs and improvements  
are charged to the income and expenditure account  
as incurred.

Pensions
The Group participates in a multi-employer defined benefit 
scheme, the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS).  
It has not been possible to identify the share of underlying 
assets and liabilities belonging to individual participating 
employers. The income and expenditure charge represents 
the employer contribution payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period.

Notes to the financial statements

Lease obligations
Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements which 
give rights approximating to ownership, they are classified 
as finance leases and are treated as if they had been 
purchased outright. The amount capitalised is the present 
value of the minimum lease payment during the term of 
the lease. The corresponding leasing commitments are 
shown as obligations to the lessor. Rentals paid under 
operating leases (including those paid under Temporary 
Social Housing leases) are charged to the income and 
expenditure account on an accruals basis.

Loan issue costs
Costs incurred in raising loan finance are initially recorded 
as a deduction from the gross proceeds of the loan and 
subsequently written off in the income and expenditure 
account over the period during which the loan facility is 
utilised. Loan issue costs not yet amortised are deducted 
from outstanding borrowings.

Debtors
A full provision is made against former tenant’s arrears  
and a phased percentage provision is made against current 
tenant balances with a maximum of 75% for balances 
outstanding for more than twenty weeks.

Taxation
As a result of the change to charitable status, deferred 
tax is only accounted for within Pike Housing Services 
Limited. Deferred tax is provided for on a full provision 
basis on all timing differences, which have arisen but not 
reversed at the balance sheet date. No timing differences 
are recognised in respect of gains on sale of assets where 
those gains have been rolled over into replacement assets. 
A deferred tax asset is not recognised to the extent that  
the transfer of economic benefit in future is uncertain.  
Any assets and liabilities recognised are not discounted.

VAT
The Association is included in a Group VAT registration in 
the name of Swan Housing Association. The majority of its 
income, being rents, is exempt for VAT purposes and this 
gives rise to a partial exemption calculation. Expenditure for 
non-taxable activities is therefore shown inclusive of VAT 
and the input VAT recovered is credited against operating 
costs. Expenditure on taxable activities is shown exclusive 
of VAT. 

Reserves
The Group establishes reserves for specific purposes 
where their use is subject to external restrictions and 
designated reserves where reserves are earmarked for a 
particular purpose. The revaluation reserve is the difference 
between the market value of investments and the historical 
cost carrying value. 

01. Principal accounting policies (continued) 01. Principal accounting policies (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements

02. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business 02. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business 
(continued)

GROUP Turnover  
 
 

£’000

2011 
Operating 

costs  
£’000

Surplus/ 
(deficit)  

 
£’000

Turnover  
 
 

£’000

2010 
Operating  

costs  
£’000

Surplus/
(deficit)  

 
£’000

Income and 
expenditure:

From social housing 
lettings

43,614 (23,098) 20,516 41,412 (26,522) 14,890

Other social housing 
activities:

Management services - (11,223) (11,223) - (2,663) (2,663)

Supporting People 
contract income

2,976 (1,998) 978 3,092 (2,427) 665

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

951 (901) 50 5,149 (4,672) 477

Forest Gate Private 
Finance Initiative

23,388 (22,557) 831 15,851 (15,230) 621

Other 4,547 (3,188) 1,359 278 (1,114) (836)

Development costs 4 (82) (78) 52 (7) 45

31,866 (39,949) (8,083) 24,422 (26,113) (1,691)

Non-social housing 
activities

Market rent lettings 460 (95) 365 367 (381) (14)

Commercial lettings 92 - 92 58 - 58

552 (95) 457 425 (381) 44

76,032 (63,142) 12,890 66,259 (53,016) 13,243

Notes to the financial statements

ASSOCIATION Turnover  
 
 

£’000

2011 
Operating 

costs  
£’000

Surplus/ 
(deficit)  

 
£’000

Turnover  
 
 

£’000

2010 
Operating  

costs  
£’000

Surplus/
(deficit)  

 
£’000

Income and 
expenditure:

From social housing 
lettings

35,481 (15,794) 19,687 25,108 (11,917) 13,191

Other social housing 
activities:

Supporting People 
contract income

1,479 (1,155) 324 - - -

Group management 
services

6,413 (17,536) (11,123) 11,678 (15,339) (3,661)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

951 (901) 50 5,149 (4,672) 477

Forest Gate Private 
Finance Initiative

23,388 (22,554) 834 15,851 (15,230) 621

Other 3,611 (1,093) 2,518 1,283 - 1,283

Development costs - (60) (60) - (7) (7)

35,842 (43,299) (7,457) 33,961 (35,248) (1,287)

Non-social housing 
activities

Commercial lettings 92 - 92 58 - 58

92 - 92 58 - 58

71,415 (59,093) 12,322 59,127 (47,165) 11,962
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GROUP General 
needs           

housing 
£’000

Supported 
housing 

 
£’000

NHS Trust 
key worker 

accom. 
£’000

Shared 
ownership 

accom. 
 £’000

Total 
2011 

 
£’000

Total 
2010 

 
£’000

Rent receivable net 
of identifiable service 
charges

26,564 674 6,264 937 34,439 33,150

Service income 7,449 509 - - 7,958 7,879

Net rental income 34,013 1,183 6,264 937 42,397 41,029

Lease income - 422 795 - 1,217 383

Turnover from social 
housing lettings

34,013 1,605 7,059 937 43,614 41,412

Management (4,497) (680) 127 19 (5,031) (11,258)

Services (4,818) (442) (1,422) (213) (6,895) (6,456)

Routine maintenance (1,980) (60) (466) (70) (2,576) (2,999)

Planned maintenance (2,259) (1) (693) (104) (3,057) (1,795)

Bad debts 16 22 7 1 46 (315)

Property lease charges (188) (30) (59) (9) (286) (211)

Depreciation of 
housing properties

(3,859) (181) (1,095) (164) (5,299) (3,488)

Operating costs 
on social housing 
lettings

(17,585) (1,372) (3,601) (540) (23,098) (26,522)

Operating surplus 
on social housing 
lettings

16,428 233 3,458 397 20,516 14,890

Void losses (862) (68) (260) (39) (1,229) (2,058)

03. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings 03. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings (continued)

Notes to the financial statements

ASSOCIATION General  
needs           

housing 
£’000

NHS Trust 
key worker 

accom. 
£’000

Shared 
ownership 

accom. 
£’000

Total 
2011 

 
£’000

Total 
2010 

 
£’000

Rent receivable net of 
identifiable service charges

20,270 6,264 937 27,471 19,679

Service income 7,215 - - 7,215 5,224

Gross rental income 27,485 6,264 937 34,686 24,903

Revenue grant - - - - -

Lease income - 795 - 795 205

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

27,485 7,059 937 35,481 25,108

Management (653) (116) (18) (787) (1,944)

Services (3,901) (1,422) (213) (5,536) (4,017)

Routine maintenance (1,263) (466) (70) (1,799) (1,879)

Planned maintenance (1,844) (693) (104) (2,641) (1,760)

Property lease charges (191) (59) (9) (259) (160)

Bad debts 24 7 1 32 (178)

Depreciation of housing 
properties

(3,545) (1,095) (164) (4,804) (1,979)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(11,373) (3,844) (577) (15,794) (11,917)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

16,112 3,215 360 19,687 13,191

Void losses (846) (261) (39) (1,146) (2,112)

04. Remuneration of officers and senior executives

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

The aggregate amount of senior executive emoluments for the year (excluding 
pension contributions and taxable benefits)

1,116 1,100

Remuneration of the highest paid senior executive (Chief Executive) excluding 
pension contributions

196 371

GROUP AND  
ASSOCIATION

Parent Board members received remuneration of £80K (2010: £75K).  
Total expenses reimbursed to Board members were £1K (2010: £6K). 
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05. Staff numbers and costs

06. Sale of properties

2011  
FTEs

2011 
No.

2010  
FTEs

2010 
No.

Administration staff 267 282 255 278

Maintenance 12 13 12 12

Caretakers, cleaners and wardens 30 31 28 29

309 326 295 319

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Disposal proceeds 9,920 1,284 9,920 1,284

Carrying value of fixed assets (9,191) (1,306) (9,191) (1,306)

729 (22) 729 (22)

GROUP AND 
ASSOCIATION

GROUP AND 
ASSOCIATION

GROUP ASSOCIATION

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was as follows:

In addition during the year a total of £197k (2010: £223k) was paid in relation to severance and redundancy costs. 

The average numbers of persons employed by the Association expressed both in full time equivalents and numbers  
of staff members (including senior executives), analysed by category, were as follows:

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Wages and salaries 9,548 9,393

Social security costs 865 996

Other pension costs 731 700

11,144 11,089

GROUP AND  
ASSOCIATION

Notes to the financial statements

08. Interest payable and similar charges

09. Surplus for the year

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Bank loans 15,592 15,768 15,575 15,731

Other bank charges 893 575 893 535

Finance lease charges 267 215 - -

16,752 16,558 16,468 16,266

Less: interest capitalised (4,187) (2,823) (4,189) (2,716)

12,565 13,735 12,279 13,550

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

The surplus for the year is stated after charging/
(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration on audit services:

Audit of Parent 36 39 36 39

Audit of Subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 25 25 25 25

Other services – service charges 28 28 28 28

Depreciation on housing properties 5,410 2,827 5,349 1,979

Depreciation on other fixed assets 740 574 738 574

Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative (834) (621) (834) (621)

Operating lease charges 245 188 245 188

Group Management fees from other group undertakings 
(note 23)

- - (6,413) (12,998)

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GROUP ASSOCIATION

07. Interest receivable

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Bank interest receivable 7 82 7 55

Interest charge on inter-group on-lending - - 1,286 2,285

7 82 1,293 2,340

GROUP ASSOCIATION
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10. Taxation

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Tax charge/(credit) on surplus on ordinary activities

Current tax:

Arising from earlier periods - - - -

Current year movements 53 - - -

Deferred tax:

Arising from earlier periods - - - -

Current year movements - - - -

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 53 - - -

Tax reconciliation

Surplus/(Deficit) on ordinary activities before tax 1,061 (432) 2,065 730

Surplus/(Deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard 
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2010: 28%)

297 (121) 578 204

Unrecognised losses utilised (81) - - -

Charitable tax exemption (163) 121 (578) (204)

Total current tax charge for year 53 - - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

There are no unprovided deferred tax assets or liabilities.

Notes to the financial statements

11. Tangible fixed assets – properties

GROUP General/ 
special 
needs 

 
 

£’000 

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties 
£’000

Completed 
NHS 

key worker 
 
 

£’000

Market 
rented 

 
 
 

£’000

Under  
construction 

 
 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 
 

£’000

Cost or valuation:

At 1 April 2010 379,727 28,206 71,291 3,692 98,454 581,370

Additions at cost - - - - 82,363 82,363

Disposals (1,789) (157)  (7,212) - (42) (9,200)

Current asset 
adjustment

- - - - (7,748) (7,748)

Completions 39,602 8,438 - - (48,040) -

Transfers - - - - - -

Revaluation during  
the year

(19,544) (2,254) - (467) - (22,265)

At 31 March 2011 397,996 34,233 64,079 3,225 124,987 624,520

Depreciation/
amortisation: 

At 1 April 2010 - - (3,614) (509) - (4,123)

Depreciation charge 
for year

(2,396) (1,676) (1,253) (85) - (5,410)

Disposals - - - - - -

Transfers - - - - - -

Revaluation during the 
year

2,396 1,676 - 24 - 4,096

At 31 March 2011 - - (4,867) (570) - (5,437)

Social Housing 
Grants:

At 1 April 2010 - - (7,858) - (63,381) (71,239)

Received during year - - - - (29,030) (29,030)

Completions - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - -

Revaluation during  
the year

- - - - - -

At 31 March 2011 - - (7,858) - (92,411) (100,269)

a) Housing properties
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GROUP General/ 
special 
needs 

 
 

£’000 

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties 
£’000

Completed 
NHS 

key worker 
 
 

£’000

Market 
rented 

 
 
 

£’000

Under  
construction 

 
 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 
 

£’000

Other public  
sector grants:

Balance at 1 April 2010 - - (4,338) - (5,017) (9,355)

Received during year - - - - (791) (791)

Completions (1,987) (1,984) - - 3,971 -

Disposals - - - - - -

Revaluation during the 
year

1,987 1,984 - - - 3,971

At 31 March 2011 - - (4,338)              -   (1,837) (6,175)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2011 397,996 34,233 47,016 2,655 30,739 512,639

At 31 March 2010 379,727 28,206 55,481 3,183 30,056 496,653

Cost or valuation 
at 31 March 2011 is 
represented by:

Gross cost 500,824 26,108 64,079 3,191 124,987 719,189

Less: depreciation (15,805) (2,316) (4,867) (610) - (23,598)

Less: Social Housing 
Grant

(146,248) (7,673) (7,858) - (92,411) (254,190)

Less: other public 
sector grant

(75,143) (7,838) (4,338) - (1,837) (89,156)

263,628 8,281 47,016 2,581 30,739 352,245

Revaluation reserve 134,368 25,952 - 74 - 160,394

397,996 34,233 47,016 2,655 30,739 512,639

a) Housing properties (continued)

Notes to the financial statements

ASSOCIATION General/ 
special needs 

 
 
 

£’000 

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties 
£’000

Completed 
NHS 

key worker 
 
 

£’000

Under  
construction 

 
 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 
 

£’000

Cost or valuation:

At 1 April 2010 205,538 22,798 71,291 90,020 389,647

One RSL transfer 174,188 6,075 - - 180,263

Additions - - - 85,065 85,065

Disposals (1,789) (157) (7,212) (42) (9,200)

Adjustment to scheme 
progress

30,708 1,368 (32,076) -

Current asset adjustment - - - (7,748) (7,748)

Completions 8,894 7,070 - (15,964) -

Valuation adjustment (18,756) (3,508) - - (22,264)

At 31 March 2011 398,783 33,646 64,079 119,255 615,763

Depreciation: 

At 1 April 2010 - - (3,614) - (3,614)

Disposals - - - - -

Charge for year (2,396) (1,700) (1,253) - (5,349)

Valuation adjustment 2,396 1,700 - - 4,096

At 31 March 2011 - - (4,867) - (4,867)

Social Housing Grant:

At 1 April 2010 - - (7,858) (63,381) (71,239)

Received during year - - - (29,030) (29,030)

Disposals - - - - -

Completions - - - - -

Valuation adjustment - - - - -

At 31 March 2011 - - (7,858) (92,411) (100,269)

a) Housing properties

11. Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued) 11. Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued)
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ASSOCIATION General/ 
special needs 

 
 
 

£’000 

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties 
£’000

Completed 
NHS 

key worker 
 
 

£’000

Under  
construction 

 
 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 
 

£’000

Other public sector grants:

At 1 April 2010 - - (4,338) (5,017) (9,355)

Received during year - - - (791) (791)

Disposals - - - - -

Completions (1,987) (1,984) - 3,971 -

Valuation adjustment 1,987 1,984 - - 3,971

At 31 March 2011 - - (4,338) (1,837) (6,175)

Historic Cost

At 31 March 2011 398,783 33,646 47,016 25,007 504,452

At 31 March 2010 205,538 22,798 55,481 21,622 305,439

Cost or valuation at 31 
March 2011 is represented 
by:

Gross cost 483,761 21,091 64,079 119,255 688,186

Less: depreciation (8,817) (2,084) (4,867) - (15,768)

Less: Social Housing Grant (116,512) (7,384) (7,858) (92,411) (224,165)

Less: other public  
sector grant

(33,788) (7,838) (4,338) (1,837) (47,801)

324,644 3,785 47,016 25,007 400,452

Revaluation reserve 74,139 29,861 - - 104,000

398,783 33,646 47,016 25,007 504,452

a) Housing properties (continued)

Notes to the financial statements

a) Housing properties (continued)
The Association has received Social Housing Grant  
from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and  
local authorities.

A number of the properties that have been grant funded 
by the HCA or its predecessors are subject to secure 
tenancies which confer on the tenant the right to purchase 
the property they occupy. If a tenant exercises their right to 
purchase the property the Association is liable to repay to 
the HCA an amount that is broadly equivalent to the grant 
advanced in respect of the property.

Similar obligations to the tenant exist in respect to 
properties built under the right to acquire legislation, 
although in these cases there is no obligation to the HCA.

Under most circumstances, if housing properties are 
disposed of, Social Housing Grant is recycled or becomes 
repayable to the HCA.

Included within additions are development administration 
costs of the Group: £1.2m, Association: £1.2m, (2010 
Group: £2.2m, Association: £2.2m); and interest capitalised 
of Group: £4.2m, Association: £4.2m (2010 Group: 
£2.8m, Association: £2.8m). The interest capitalisation was 
calculated using the Group’s average cost of floating rate 
borrowing each month. The average rate during the year 
was 4.07%.

The maintenance and repair expenditure on housing 
properties for the Group is £6.8m, Association £6.8m 
(2010 Group: £6.7m, Association: £4.8m). £2.4m of  
this expenditure is capitalised (2010: £1.9m).

All completed housing stock of the Group was valued as 
at 31 March 2011, on the basis of Existing Use Value for 
Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes at Group: 
£482.8m, Swan: £482.8m. The valuation was undertaken 
in accordance with the RICS Appraisal & Valuation 
Manual (‘The Red Book’) where EUV-SH is defined at 
UKPS1.13. In determining this valuation, the valuers made 
use of discounted cashf low methodology and the key 
assumptions made concerned the level of future rents, 
future repair and maintenance costs, the rate of turnover  
of existing tenants and the discount rate.  

The assumed discount rate was 5.25% real. The valuation 
was carried out by FPD Savills, Chartered Surveyors of 25 
Finsbury Circus, London EC2M 7EE. 

Completed NHS key worker properties are carried at cost 
less depreciation.

During the year a review of completed schemes took place. 
This resulted in a transfer from assets under construction 
to completed properties of £32.1m in Swan Housing 
Association Limited.

The Group net book value of housing properties comprises 
£493.7m Freehold and £19.3m Leasehold premises.

11. Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued) 11. Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued)
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b) Other fixed assets

GROUP Freehold  
offices & 

temporary 
buildings 

£’000

Computer 
equipment 

 
 

£’000

Office 
equipment 

and fittings 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2010 3,570 2,785 1,364 7,719

Additions 23 519 97 639

At 31 March 2011 3,593 3,304 1,461 8,358

Depreciation

At 1 April 2010 (476) (1,802) (827) (3,105)

Charge for year (60) (448) (232) (740)

At 31 March 2011 (536) (2,250) (1,059) (3,845)

Revaluation 360 - - 360

Net book value

At 31 March 2011 3,417 1,054 402 4,873

At 31 March 2010 3,094 983 537 4,614

ASSOCIATION Freehold  
offices & 

temporary 
buildings 

£’000

Computer 
equipment 

 
 

£’000

Office 
equipment 

and fittings 
 

£’000

Total 
 
 
 

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2010 3,357 2,785 1,255 7,397

Additions 23 519 97 639

One RSL Transfer 207 122 22 351

At 31 March 2011 3,587 3,426 1,374 8,387

Depreciation

At 1 April 2010 (416) (1,803) (815) (3,034)

One RSL Transfer (60) (31) (11) (102)

Charge for year (60) (448) (230) (738)

At 31 March 2011 (536) (2,282) (1,056) (3,874)

Revaluation 360 - - 360

Net book value

At 31 March 2011 3,411 1,144 318 4,873

At 31 March 2010 2,941 982 440 4,363

Notes to the financial statements

c) Investments

ASSOCIATION Loans to group members  
£’000

At 1 April 2010 62,628

Advance to Group member 109

One RSL adjustment (60,852)

At 31 March 2011 1,885

Direct holdings Activity Country of registration

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes Great Britain

Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor Great Britain

Pike Housing Services Limited Property letting Great Britain

With effect from 23 March 2001, following completion of the increased Group borrowing facility, all loans are drawn  
down by Swan Housing Association. As at 31 March 2011 a loan of £1.886m has been provided to Swan New Homes. 
This amount relates to the development programmes and associated working capital requirements for Swan New 
Homes. On 1 October 2010, Swan (Essex) Housing Association Limited and Swan (London) Housing Association Limited 
transferred their engagements to Swan Housing Association Limited and consequently the loans were extinguished.

12. Properties held for sale

2011  
£ ’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£ ’000

2010  
£’000

Shared ownership properties - - - -

Properties under construction 35,749 28,002 35,749 28,002

35,749 28,002 35,749 28,002

GROUP ASSOCIATION

11. Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued) 11. Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued)
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13. Debtors

14. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Gross arrears of rent  
and service charges

1,216 2,451 1,215 1,449

Less: provision for bad  
and doubtful debts

(907) (1,262) (907) (663)

Net arrears of rent and service 
charges

309 1,189 308 786

Other debtors 4,651 1,629 3,416 2,495

Other prepayments and accrued 
income

4,523 3,359 4,523 5,092

Other prepayments and accrued 
income - PFI

33,969 16,148 33,969 16,148

Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 615 7,886

43,452 22,325 42,831 32,407

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Trade creditors 7,603 1,755 4,564 1,189

Bank overdraft 1,563 116 474 -

Capital creditors 125 125 125 125

Other creditors 11,554 13,198 9,827 9,671

Rental income received in advance 991 598 977 357

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 7,670 1,877

Grant repayable on disposal - 932 - -

Accruals and deferred income 11,268 15,394 - -

Interest payable 1,899 2,127 1,899 1,886

PFI creditors - 272 - 272

Corporation tax 53 - - -

Disposal proceeds fund 1,822 778 1,822 778

36,878 35,295 27,358 16,155

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Notes to the financial statements

The loans above are drawn from a total committed loan facility of £520 million provided by a syndicate headed by Royal 
Bank of Scotland plc. It consists of a Group borrowing facility for the benefit of the Registered Providers within the Group. 
Under this facility the property collateral of all properties charged to the lenders is pooled to secure the loan finance and 
overdraft facilities provided under the arrangement. Loans are secured by charges on specific properties and floating 
charges, and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of interest between 1.62% and 6.29%.  

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance leases for a total of 35 properties. These entail 
the funder (Bradford and Bingley plc) purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market, leasing them to Swan 
(Essex) Housing Association for 25 years and Swan (Essex) Housing Association entering into a back to back lease with 
Pike Housing Services. However during the year Swan Housing Association Limited replaces Swan (Essex) Housing 
Association Limited following the transfer of engagements on 1 October 2010. At the end of the lease term Bradford  
and Bingley plc has a put option to sell the properties and Swan Housing Association has a call option to purchase  
the properties, both at historic cost. 

15. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Housing loans 400,682 379,127 400,682 379,127

Finance leases 3,024 3,024 - -

PFI loan 38,164 17,858 38,164 17,858

441,870 400,009 438,846 396,985

Housing loans, not repayable  
by instalments:

Falling due two to five years 4,049 1,500 4,049 1,500

Falling due for repayment  
after five years

399,451 380,000 399,451 380,000

Less: issue costs (2,818) (2,373) (2,818) (2,373)

400,682 379,127 400,682 379,127

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Falling due with one to two years - 237 - 237

Falling due two to five years 8,300 5,619 8,300 5,619

Falling due for repayment  
after five years

29,864 12,002 29,864 12,002

PFI loan 38,164 17,858 38,164 17,858

Finance leases 2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Market rented properties 3,024 3,024 - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GROUP ASSOCIATION
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The shares have limited rights. They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not carry rights to 
participate in a winding up. They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special meetings of the Association.  
When shares are cancelled, the amount paid up becomes the property of the Association.

A designated reserve has been set up to pay for the replacement of white goods when required in the supported housing 
schemes where required by the lease.

16. Non-equity share capital

17. Reserves

GROUP AND ASSOCIATION 2011 
£ 

2010  
£

Outstanding at 1 April 12 10

Allocated during the year - 2

Resigned during the year (4) -

Shares of £1 each allotted, issued and full paid 8 12

GROUP    Income & 
expenditure 

account  
£’000

Revaluation 
reserve  

 
£’000

Designated 
reserve  

 
£’000

Total 
 

  
£’000

As at 1 April 2010 10,833 134,574 577 145,984

Revaluation surplus in year – housing 
properties

- (13,933) - (13,933)

Surplus for year 1,008 - - 1,008

Realisation of revaluation surplus on 
properties sold in the year

268 (268) - -

Transfer to designated reserve - - 93 93

Transfer of depreciation  
relating to revaluation

1,439 (1,439) - -

As at 31 March 2011 13,548 118,934 670 133,152

Notes to the financial statements

17. Reserves (continued)

18. Commitments

ASSOCIATION    Income &  
Expenditure 

Account  
£’000

Revaluation  
Reserve  

 
£’000

Total 
 
 

 £’000

As at 1 April 2010 previously stated 5,961 32,444 38,405

Revaluation surplus in year: 

Housing properties - (13,935) (13,935)

Surplus for the year 2,065 - 2,065

Transfer of depreciation relating to revaluation 1,439 (1,439) -

One RSL Transfer (see page 6) 6,098 104,090 110,188

As at 31 March 2011 15,563 121,160 136,693

i) Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made.

ii) Annual commitments for the year from the balance sheet date under non-cancellable operating leases  
for equipment and motor vehicles are as follows:

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Contracted but not provided 100,113 181,420 57,956 156,291

Authorised but not contracted 82,116 208,990 85,116 119,416

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 216 188 216 188

In the second to fifth years inclusive 198 255 198 255

Greater than five years 25                -             25               -

439 443 439 443

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GROUP ASSOCIATION

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed by available loans, grants and sales income.
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19. Analysis of completed property units 19. Analysis of completed property units (continued)

At 31 March 2011 the Group’s housing stock comprised:

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Social housing:

General needs 5,792 5,608 - -

Shared ownership 528 529 - -

Sheltered (Elderly) 80 81 - -

Other supported housing 424 441 - 7

NHS key worker accommodation 960 1,361 - 12

London Borough of Newham - - 1,355 1,348

Total social housing 7,784 8,020 1,355 1,367

Non-social housing:

Market rented 33 33 - -

Garages 428 427 198 198

Sold to leaseholder with  
retained freehold

633 682 - -

Total housing stock 8,878 9,162 1,553 1,565

GROUP Owned 
number of units

Managed 
number of units

Notes to the financial statements

20. Legislative provisions

21. Related party disclosures

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

2011  
£’000

2010  
£’000

Social housing:

General needs 5,792 5,608 - -

Shared ownership 528 529 - -

Sheltered (Elderly) 80 81 - -

Other supported housing 424 441 - 7

NHS key worker accommodation 960 1,361 - 12

London Borough of Newham - - 1,355 1,348

Total social housing 7,784 8,020 1,355 1,367

Non-social housing:

Garages 428 427 198 198

Sold to leaseholder with  
retained freehold

633 682 - -

Total housing stock 8,845 9,129 1,553 1,565

ASSOCIATION Owned 
number of units

Managed 
number of units

The Association is registered under the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1965 with the reference 28496R,  
and with the Tenant Services Authority under reference L4145 under the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008  
as a Registered Provider.

There is one tenant who is also a Board member of one or more of the entities within the Group. The rent and terms  
of their tenancy are determined in the same way as those of all tenants. The tenant member who served during the  
year was Tyson Bunby. There were no other related party transactions with the tenant members.

The Association has provided car purchase loans to two executive directors, the terms and interest rate is the same  
as that available to staff.
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22. Pensions

The Association participates in the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS). The Scheme is funded and is contracted 
out of the state scheme. SHPS is a multi-employer defined 
benefit scheme. Employer participation in the Scheme is 
subject to adherence with the employer responsibilities  
and obligations as set out in the ‘SHPS House Policies  
and Rules Employer Guide’.

The scheme operated a single benefit structure, final salary 
with a 1/60th accrual rate until 31 March 2007. From 1 
April 2007 the following have been available:

  Final salary with a 1/60th accrual rate, closed  
to new entrants 31 March 2010

 Final salary with a 1/80th accrual rate

An employer can elect to operate different benefit 
structures for their active members and their new entrants. 
An employer can only operate one open defined benefit 
structure at any one time. An open benefit structure is  
one which new entrants can join.

Swan Housing Association Limited has operated the 
1/60th accrual rate final salary scheme benefit structure  
for active members as at 31 March 2011.

Swan Housing Association Limited has operated the 
1/80th accrual rate final salary scheme benefit structure  
for new entrants from 1 April 2010.

The Trustee commissions an actuarial valuation of the 
Scheme every 3 years. The main purpose of the valuation 
is to determine the financial position of the Scheme in  
order to determine the level of future contributions required, 
in respect of each benefit structure, so that the Scheme 
can meet its pension obligations as they fall due. From 
April 2007 the split of the total contribution rate between 
member and employer is set at individual employer level, 
subject to the employer paying no less than 50% of the 
total contribution rate. From 1 April 2010 the requirement 
for employers to pay at least 50% of the total contribution 
rate no longer applies.

The actuarial valuation assesses whether the Scheme’s 
assets at the valuation date are likely to be sufficient to pay 
the pension benefits accrued by members at the valuation 
date. Asset values are calculated by reference to market 
levels. Accrued pension benefits are valued by discounting 
expected future benefit payments using a discount rate 
calculated by reference to the expected future  
investment returns.

During the accounting period the Association paid 
contributions between 7.5% and 15.75% (2010 – 14.1%). 
Member contributions vary between 4.5% and 10.05% 
(2009 – 6.4% and 8.4%) depending on their age.

It is not possible in the normal course of events to 
identify on a consistent and reasonable basis the share 
of underlying assets and liabilities belonging to individual 
participating employers. This is because the Scheme is  
a multi-employer Scheme where the Scheme assets are 
co-mingled for investment purposes, and benefits are  
paid from the total Scheme assets. Accordingly, due  
to the nature of the Scheme, the accounting charge  
for the period under FRS17 represents the employer  
contribution payable.

The Scheme Actuary has prepared an Actuarial Report  
that provides an approximate update on the funding 
position of the scheme as at 30 September 2010. Such 
a report is required by legislation for years in which a full 
actuarial report is not carried out. The funding update 
revealed an increase in the assets of the Scheme to £1,985 
million and indicated an increase in the shortfall of assets 
compared to liabilities to approximately £497 million, 
equivalent to a past service funding level of 80%. 

Valuation results 
The valuation was carried out using the following 
demographic assumptions:

  Mortality pre retirement – PA92 Year of birth, long 
cohort projection, minimum improvement 1% p.a.

  Mortality post retirement – 90% S1PA Year  
of birth, long cohort projection, minimum 
improvement 1% p.a.

The last formal valuation of the Scheme was performed as 
at 30 September 2008 by a professionally qualified Actuary 
using the Projected Unit Method. The market value of the 
Scheme’s assets at the valuation date was £1,527 million. 
The valuation revealed a shortfall of assets compared with 
the value of liabilities of £663 million, equivalent to a past 
service funding level of 69.7%.

Notes to the financial statements

% pa

Pre-retirement 7.8

Non-pensioner post retirement 6.2

Pensioner post retirement 5.6

Pensionable earnings growth 4.7

Price inflation 3.2

Pension increases:

Pre 88 GMP 0.0

Post 88 GMP 2.8

Excess over GMP 3.0

Financial assumptions 
The financial assumptions underlying the valuation as at 30 September 2008 were as follows:

Following consideration of the results of the actuarial 
valuation it was agreed that the shortfall of £663 million 
would be dealt with by the payment of deficit contributions 
of 7.5% of pensionable salaries, increasing each year in-line 
with salary growth assumptions, from 1 April 2010 to 30 
September 2023. Pensionable earnings at 30 September 
2008 are used as the reference point for calculating these 
deficit contributions. These deficit contributions are in 
addition to the long-term joint contribution rates set  
out in the table above. 

The long-term joint contribution rate required from 
employers and members to meet the cost of future  
benefits was assessed as 17.8% of pensionable salaries.

22. Pensions (continued)
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Following consideration of the results of the actuarial 
valuation it was agreed that, with effect from 1 April 2010:

i)  The standard employer contribution rate will be increased 
from 14.1% to 17.8% of pensionable salaries. 

ii)  Member contributions will also be increased from 6.4%-
8.4% to 8.1%-10.1% of pensionable salaries depending 
on age.

Employers that participate in the Scheme on a non-
contributory basis pay a joint contribution rate (i.e. a 
combined employer and employee rate). Employers that 
have closed the Scheme to new members are required to 
pay an additional employer contribution loading of 3.0%  
to reflect the higher costs of a closed arrangement.

A small number of employers are required to contribute  
at a different rate, to reflect the amortisation of a surplus or 
deficit on the transfer of assets and past service liabilities 
from another pension scheme into the SHPS Scheme.

Employers joining the Scheme after 1 October 2002 that 
do not transfer any past service liabilities to the Scheme 
pay contributions at the ongoing future service contribution 
rate. This rate is reviewed at each valuation and applies 
until the second valuation after the date of joining the 
Scheme, at which point the standard employer contribution 
rate is payable. Contribution rates are changed on 1 April 
that falls 18 months after the valuation date.

A copy of the recovery plan, setting out the level of deficit 
contributions payable and the period for which they will 
be payable, must be sent to the pensions regulator. The 
regulator has the power under Part 3 of the Pensions 
Act 2004 to issue scheme funding directions where it 
believes that the actuarial valuation assumptions and/
or Recovery Plan are inappropriate. For example the 
Regulator could require that the Trustee strengthens the 
actuarial assumptions (which would increase the Scheme 
liabilities and hence impact on the Recovery Plan) or 
impose a schedule of contributions on the Scheme (which 
would effectively amend the terms of the Recovery Plan). 
The Regulator is currently in the process of reviewing the 
Recovery Plan for SHPS in respect of the September 2008 
actuarial valuation. A response from the Regulator  
is expected in due course.

If the valuation assumptions are borne out in practice  
this pattern of contributions should be sufficient to 
eliminate the past service deficit by 30 September 2020.

As a result of pension scheme legislation there is a 
potential debt on the employer that could be levied by  
the Trustee of the Scheme. The debt is due in the event  
of the employer ceasing to participate in the Scheme  
or the Scheme winding up.

The debt for the Scheme as a whole is calculated by 
comparing the liabilities for the Scheme (calculated on 
a buyout basis; i.e. the cost of securing benefits by 
purchasing annuity policies from an insurer, plus an 
allowance for expenses) with the assets of the Scheme.  
If the liabilities exceed assets there is a buy-out debt.

The leaving employer’s share of the buy-out debt is 
the proportion of the Scheme’s liability attributable to 
employment with the leaving employer compared to 
the total amount of the Scheme’s liabilities (relating to 
employment with all the currently participating employers). 
The leaving employer’s debt therefore includes a share of 
any ‘orphan’ liabilities in respect of previously participating 
employers. The amount of the debt therefore depends on 
many factors including; total Scheme liabilities, Scheme 
investment performance, the liabilities in respect of current 
and former employees of the employer, financial conditions 
at the time of the cessation event and the insurance buy-
out market. The amounts of debt can therefore be volatile 
over time.

Swan Housing Association has been notified by  
The Pensions Trust of the estimated employer debt  
on withdrawal from the Social Housing Pension scheme, 
based on the financial position of the scheme as at 30 
September 2010. At this date the estimated employer  
debt is £12.8m.

Notes to the financial statements

23. Subsidiaries

24. Contingent liabilities

25. Creditor payment days

Swan Housing Association provides staff and other services to its subsidiaries (each of which is a Registered Social 
Landlord, with the exception of Pike Housing Services Limited) under the terms of procedure agreements.  
Details of the amount charged to the subsidiaries within the Group are as follows: 

Performance bonds
Swan (Essex) Housing Association has issued performance bonds in respect of highway and other works which  
are part of development schemes in Basildon amounting to a maximum of £1,188,942 which may be retained  
by the local authorities in the event of works required under the construction programme not being completed.  
At present the Association is expecting to complete these works satisfactorily. The bonds expire at various dates,  
the latest of which is November 2018. These bonds have been transferred into Swan Housing Association Limited  
upon the one RSL adjustment.

The average number of days between receipt and payment of purchase invoices in 2011 was 30 days (2010: 32 days).

Under the Group loan facility Swan draws down the loans and on-lends to the other Associations in the Group.  
At 31 March 2011, Swan had provided term finance of £1.885m to Swan New Homes Limited. 

2011 
£ 

2010  
£

Amount charged:

Swan (Essex) Housing Association (pre 1 RSL transfer) 4,540 9,293

Pike Housing Services Limited 24 50

Swan (London) Housing Association (pre 1 RSL transfer) 1,748 3,545

Swan Commercial Services 100 94

Swan New Homes 200 16

6,612 12,998

22. Pensions (continued)
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